RECEIVED

Apr 04 2022

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from Calhoun County
Court of Common Pleas

Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2019-CP-09-00220
Appellate Case No. 2021-000700

Jeffery White,
individually and as Personal Representative
of the Estate of Lizzie White,

Respondent,

v.

St. Matthews Healthcare, LLC,
d/b/a Calhoun Convalescent Center,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CLEMENT RIVERS, LLP
Stephen L. Brown (SC Bar No. 66468)
D. Jay Davis, Jr. (SC Bar No. 12084)
Russell G. Hines (SC Bar No. 72100)
T. Ashton Phillips, III (SC Bar No. 104227)
25 Calhoun Street, Suite 400
Charleston, South Carolina 29401

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the circuit court err in denying the Facility’s¹ motion to compel Plaintiff’s² claims to arbitration?³**
- A. Did the circuit court err in rejecting the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument? More specifically, did it err in not finding (1) that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged and (2) that, because Ms. White⁴ effectively embraced and directly benefitted from the Admission Agreement, Plaintiff should be estopped to deny the enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement merged therewith?⁵**
- B. While recognizing the binding effect (on not only the circuit court but also this Court) of our Supreme Court’s recent decision in *Arredondo v. SNH SE Ashley River Tenant, LLC*,⁶ the Facility nonetheless wishes to preserve the following issue: Did the circuit court err in rejecting the Facility’s argument that the Arbitration Agreement was validly executed by Ms. White’s attorney-in-fact, Ms. Nunnally,⁷ pursuant to the HCPOA?^{8 9}**

¹ The “Facility” is Defendant/Appellant, St. Matthews Healthcare, LLC, d/b/a Calhoun Convalescent Center, which is a skilled nursing facility.

² “Plaintiff” is Plaintiff/Respondent, Jeffery White, individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Lizzie White.

³ This issue, and the corresponding argument, includes and challenges the circuit court’s adverse rulings both with respect to the Facility’s principal motion and with respect to its subsequent Rule 59(e), SCRCF, motion.

⁴ “Ms. White” is the decedent, Lizzie White.

⁵ This issue, and the corresponding argument, specifically includes and challenges, without limitation, the circuit court’s errors in using the wrong test for equitable estoppel and in focusing its estoppel analysis on Plaintiff (i.e., Jeffery White), as opposed to on Ms. White herself.

⁶ 433 S.C. 69, 856 S.E.2d 550 (2021).

⁷ “Ms. Nunnally” is Ms. White’s daughter Darlene Nunnally.

⁸ The “HCPOA” is the South Carolina Health Care Power of Attorney that Ms. Nunnally held as to Ms. White.

⁹ This issue, and the corresponding argument, specifically includes and challenges, without limitation, the correctness of the *Arredondo* decision.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

With the help of Ms. Nunnally, Ms. White was admitted to the Facility in early June 2017. (See R. pp. 167-178; R. p. 34 ¶ 34.) In conjunction with Ms. White’s admission to the Facility, Ms. Nunnally, who handled all the paperwork, and indeed was her mother’s attorney-in-fact pursuant to the HCPOA,¹⁰ signed an Admission Agreement¹¹ and an Arbitration Agreement¹² on Ms. White’s behalf.¹³

¹⁰ (R. pp. 119-123.)

¹¹ (R. pp. 167-178.)

¹² (R. p. 118.)

¹³ Without question, the Arbitration Agreement is governed by the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. §§ 1–16 (the “FAA”). To begin with, it expressly states that the FAA applies (R. p. 118 (“The parties acknowledge and agree that, because the services and reimbursement thereof effects a transaction that involves interstate commerce, the enforcement of this Arbitration Agreement . . . shall be governed by the [FAA]”)), and this must be enforced like any other contract term. *Damico v. Lennar Carolinas, LLC*, 430 S.C. 188, 196, 844 S.E.2d 66, 70 (Ct. App. 2020) (“We first consider whether the FAA applies. We hold it does, for two reasons. First, the [subject contract] provides the parties ‘specifically agree that this transaction involves interstate commerce.’ We must enforce this agreement like any other contract term.”) (citing *Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp.*, 343 S.C. 531, 539, 542 S.E.2d 360, 363–64 (2001) (finding FAA applied because parties had agreed contract involved interstate commerce)). Moreover, the FAA applies “to any arbitration agreement regarding a transaction that in fact involves interstate commerce, regardless of whether or not the parties contemplated an interstate transaction,” *Munoz*, 343 S.C. at 538, 542 S.E.2d at 363; see also *Allied–Bruce Terminix Cos., Inc. v. Dobson*, 513 U.S. 265, 268 (1995) (holding that the reach of the FAA extends to the broadest permissible exercise of Congress’s power under the Commerce Clause), and nursing home residency agreements implicate interstate commerce and, thus, the FAA. *Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC*, 408 S.C. 371, 381, 759 S.E.2d 727, 732 (2014) (“Since the Supreme Court decided *Allied–Bruce*, many—if not all—federal and state courts have held that nursing home residency contracts similar to the one at issue here implicate interstate commerce and the FAA. Generally, these holdings center on a common theme: nursing home residency contracts usually entail providing residents

Ms. Nunnally signed both the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement as “Resident’s [(i.e., Ms. White’s¹⁴)] Durable Power of Attorney for Health Care’/[Ms. White’s] Legal Guardian’/[Ms. White’s] Responsible Party.” (R. p. 167; R. p. 118.) By signing the Admission Agreement, Ms. Nunnally expressly acknowledged that the “promises and representations [she made therein were] in order to induce Facility to enter into th[e] Agreement” and that the “Facility [wa]s relying upon the truthfulness of the promises and representations [she] made.” (R. p. 178.) By signing the Arbitration Agreement, Ms. Nunnally expressly “represent[ed] that . . . she ha[d] the authority to sign on [Ms. White’s] behalf so as to bind [Ms. White] as well as [herself].” (R. p. 118.)

Alleging that Ms. White received deficient care/treatment during her residency at the Facility,¹⁵ Plaintiff filed this wrongful death and survival action on December 16, 2019, in the Court of Common Pleas, Calhoun County. (See R. pp. 27-45.)¹⁶

with meals and medical supplies that are inevitably shipped across state lines from out-of-state vendors. We likewise find the terms of the residency agreement implicate interstate commerce and, thus, the FAA.”).

¹⁴ Both the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement refer to Ms. White as “Resident.” (R. p. 167; R. p. 118.)

¹⁵ In particular, Plaintiff alleges Ms. White did not receive proper care with respect to the prevention and/or treatment of pressure ulcers. (See R. pp. 52-56 ¶¶ 7-8.)

¹⁶ Subject to and without waiving its right to compel the matter to arbitration, the Facility timely answered Plaintiff’s complaint, denying the material allegations against it and raising a number of affirmative defenses. (See R. pp. 57-70.)

Citing the Arbitration Agreement that Ms. Nunnally signed for Ms. White, the Facility moved to compel Plaintiff's claims to arbitration (the "Motion to Compel Arbitration"). (R. pp. 115-117; *see also* R. pp. 140-166.)¹⁷

The circuit court heard the Motion to Compel Arbitration on August 12, 2020, the Honorable Maite Murphy presiding. (*See generally* R. pp. 71-97.) By order filed November 24, 2020, the court initially granted the motion,¹⁸ but thereafter, on Plaintiff's motion for reconsideration,¹⁹ and following a hearing thereon on February 10, 2021,²⁰ the court reversed itself, granting Plaintiff's motion and, in turn, denying the Motion to Compel Arbitration by order filed

¹⁷ Without question, Plaintiff's claims against the Facility are within the scope of the Arbitration Agreement. The plain language of the Arbitration Agreement clearly embraces the subject matter of Plaintiff's claims. (*See* R. p. 118 ("It is the intention of the parties to this [Arbitration] Agreement to bind not only themselves, but also their successors, assigns, heirs, personal representatives, guardians or any persons deriving their claims through or on behalf of [Ms. White]."); R. p. 118 ("It is . . . understood that in the event of any controversy or dispute between the parties arising out of or relating to [the] Facility's Admission Agreement, or breach thereof, or relating in any way to [Ms. White's] stay at [the] Facility, or to the provisions of care or services to [Ms. White] . . . and the parties are unable to resolve such through negotiation, then the parties agree that such Dispute(s) shall be resolved by arbitration").) Moreover, even if there were "any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues[,] [they] should be resolved in favor of arbitration" *Towles v. United HealthCare Corp.*, 338 S.C. 29, 41, 524 S.E.2d 839, 846 (Ct. App. 1999).

¹⁸ (R. pp. 1-15.)

¹⁹ (R. pp. 185-194; *see also* R. pp. 195-196.)

²⁰ (*See generally* R. pp. 98-114.)

March 31, 2021. (R. pp. 16-23.) By order filed June 2, 2021, the court denied the Facility's motion for reconsideration. (R. pp. 24-26.)²¹

By notice served and filed July 1, 2021, this appeal timely follows. (*See* R. pp. 221-227.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A circuit court's determination of whether a claim is subject to arbitration is reviewed de novo on appeal. *Gissel v. Hart*, 382 S.C. 235, 240, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323 (2009). This includes de novo review of the determination of whether an arbitration agreement is enforceable against a nonsignatory. *Wilson v. Willis*, 426 S.C. 326, 334, 827 S.E.2d 167, 172 (2019). "Under de novo review, a circuit court's factual findings will not be reversed on appeal if any evidence reasonably supports those findings." *Id.* Issues of law, however, are reviewed without any particular deference to the lower court. *See, e.g., Duke Energy Corp. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 415 S.C. 351, 782 S.E.2d 590 (2016). Even where a ruling is on a matter within trial court's discretion, if the ruling is based on a misunderstanding of the law, rather than upon the exercise of discretion, the question presented on appeal is one of law. *See Bain v. Self Mem'l Hosp.*, 281 S.C. 138, 152, 314 S.E.2d 603, 611 (Ct. App. 1984).

²¹ Pursuant to Rule 59(e), on Monday, April 12, 2021, the Facility had timely moved the court to alter, amend, and/or reconsider its order filed March 31, 2021. (R. pp. 197-213.)

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court erred in denying the Motion to Compel Arbitration.

- A. The circuit court erred in rejecting the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument. More specifically, it erred in not finding (1) that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged and (2) that, because Ms. White effectively embraced and directly benefitted from the Admission Agreement, Plaintiff should be estopped to deny the enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement merged therewith.²²**

First off, to be clear, the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument is not an argument for the *enforceability* of the Arbitration Agreement but rather an argument for Plaintiff—as personal representative of Ms. White’s estate—to be *estopped* from denying its enforceability. In short, the idea is that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged, and Ms. White having effectively embraced and directly benefitted from the Admission Agreement, Plaintiff is estopped to deny the enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement merged therewith. Accordingly, any contention about the Arbitration Agreement’s supposed lack of enforceability is beside the point and unavailing to refute the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument, which, again, turns not on the question of whether the Facility can show that the Arbitration Agreement is enforceable but

²² Again, as noted above, this argument specifically includes and challenges, without limitation, the circuit court’s errors in using the wrong test for equitable estoppel and in focusing its estoppel analysis on Plaintiff (i.e., Jeffery White), as opposed to on Ms. White herself.

whether it can show that Plaintiff should be estopped to deny that the Arbitration Agreement is enforceable—and, most respectfully, the Facility did so.

Re: Merger

Even though Ms. White is a nonsignatory to the Arbitration Agreement,²³ it is nonetheless enforceable against her estate, i.e., against Plaintiff.

South Carolina recognizes numerous theories under which a nonsignatory can be bound to an arbitration agreement. *See Wilson*, 426 S.C. at 338, 827 S.E.2d at 174 (“South Carolina has recognized several theories that could bind nonsignatories to arbitration agreements under general principles of contract and agency law, including (1) incorporation by reference, (2) assumption, (3) agency, (4) veil piercing/alter ego, and (5) estoppel.”); *see also Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.*, 407 S.C. 346, 355, 755 S.E.2d 450, 455 (2014) (acknowledging the possibility of enforcing an arbitration agreement against a nonsignatory via merger and equitable estoppel).

In *Coleman*, even though our Supreme Court found against merger on the *specific facts* of the case, it nonetheless confirmed the validity of the *general proposition of law* on which the *Coleman* appellants based their merger/equitable estoppel argument:

Appellants contend that even if Sister lacked capacity to execute the AA under the Act, she is nevertheless

²³ For present purposes, the Facility assumes, *arguendo*, that (contrary to its position in respect of Issue/Argument I.B.) the Arbitration Agreement was not validly executed by Ms. Nunnally as Ms. White’s attorney-in-fact pursuant to the HCPOA.

equitably estopped to deny the AA's enforceability. The circuit court held there was no estoppel here, and we agree.

Appellants' equitable estoppel argument is premised on their contention that, under state law, the admission agreements and the AAs merged. In South Carolina,

The general rule is that, in the absence of anything indicating a contrary intention, where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction, the courts will consider and construe the documents together. The theory is that the instruments are effectively one instrument or contract.

Klutts Resort Realty, Inc. v. Down'Round Dev. Corp., 268 S.C. 80, 88, 232 S.E.2d 20, 24 (1977).

Here, the documents were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction. Unless there is a contrary intention, appellants are correct that there was a merger.

407 S.C. 346, 354–55, 755 S.E.2d 450, 455 (2014) (emphasis added).

Here, the circuit court erred in rejecting the Facility's merger argument, failing to recognize material differences between the facts and arguments involved in the instant case and those that controlled (or were simply not addressed or otherwise appreciated in) *Coleman* and its progeny, *Thompson v. Pruitt Corp.*, 416 S.C. 43, 784 S.E.2d 679 (Ct. App. 2016), and *Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC*, 422 S.C. 544, 813 S.E.2d 292 (Ct. App. 2018).

The circuit court wrongly concluded that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement are separate contacts that do not merge. (See R. p. 21 (“Here, this Court finds that the plain language of the facility admissions agreement and the arbitration agreement indicates that the agreements were to be construed independent of one another. The instruments are separately paginated, the facility admissions agreement contains an Entire Agreement clause, and the arbitration agreement was not a condition precedent to entry into Defendant’s facility, whereas the facility admission agreement was a prerequisite to admission. This Court therefore finds no merger occurred between these two distinct instruments.”).)

The merger question examines whether, “where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction,”²⁴ as undoubtedly the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement were here,²⁵ there is evidence to upset the *presumption in favor of merger*, i.e., the presumption that the contracting parties intended the instruments to

²⁴ *Coleman*, 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455.

²⁵ To be clear, *Coleman* unequivocally answers the question of whether the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction: they were. As the *Coleman* Court expressly observed regarding the admission and arbitration agreements before it (which in *this* respect—but not in respect of the material facts bearing on the question of whether the presumption of merger is rebutted—are no different from the instant agreements), “the documents *were* executed at *the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction.*” 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (emphasis added).

be construed together as effectively one contract. This is a question of the parties' intention. *See Id.* at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (“in the absence of anything indicating a contrary *intention* . . .”) (emphasis added). And “in attempting to ascertain th[e] [parties'] intention,” our courts “endeavor to determine the situation of the parties, as well as their purposes, at the time the contract was entered into.” *Klutts*, 268 S.C. at 89, 232 S.E.2d at 25. The circuit court's assertion that, “[t]he [*Coleman*] Court recognized . . . that certain factors support the separateness of documents, even to the extent the instruments were signed at roughly the same time,”²⁶ is overbroad and incorrect. Neither *Coleman* nor the other case the court cited in this regard, *Thompson*, sets forth “factors” of general application; rather, those decisions turn on case-specific facts analyzed in case-specific context.

For the merger presumption to actually mean anything, it cannot be upset based on mere conjecture, only on actual evidence that—notwithstanding the concurrence of all the particular circumstances necessary for the presumption to even arise in the first place (same time, parties, purpose, and transaction)—can nonetheless support a reasonable, non-speculative inference that the parties' intention was contrary to merger. *Cf. The Huffines Co., LLC v. Lockhart*, 365 S.C. 178, 188, 617 S.E.2d 125, 130 (Ct. App. 2005) (“[V]erdicts may not be permitted to rest upon surmise, conjecture, or speculation.”). No such inference can be drawn here. Indeed,

²⁶ (R. p. 20.)

it does not even make sense that the parties would not have intended the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement to merge.

Unlike the arbitration agreements at issue in *Coleman*, *Thompson*, and *Hodge*, all of which provided that they could be disclaimed or revoked within 30 days of their signing (while the corresponding admission agreements contained no such provision), the instant Arbitration Agreement has no such disclaimer/revocation provision. (See R. p. 118.) Moreover, while the instant Admission Agreement does contain an “Entire Agreement” clause, it does not reference the Arbitration Agreement as a separate contract. (R. p. 178.) Indeed, directly contradicting the idea of “separatedness” (in the parlance of the *Coleman* Court²⁷), the “Entire Agreement” clause in the instant Admission Agreement expressly states that “other Admissions materials” are part of the Admission Agreement, thereby expressly contemplating the lack of its own supposed “separatedness.” (R. p. 178.) And without question, the Arbitration Agreement is among these other *admissions* materials. See *Stott v. White Oak Manor, Inc.*, 426 S.C. 568, 571–72, 828 S.E.2d 82, 84 (Ct. App. 2019) (“The same day as Decedent’s admission to White Oak, Stott, acting as Decedent’s

²⁷ 407 S.C. at 356, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (explaining how, in *Coleman*—unlike in the instant case—the “Entire Agreement” clause expressly referred to a separate arbitration agreement and, thus, “recognize[d] the ‘*separatedness*’ of the [arbitration agreement] and the admission agreement, not a merger of the two contracts.”) (emphasis added).

authorized representative, signed White Oak’s *admission documentation—including the Arbitration Agreement*.”) (emphasis added) (internal footnote omitted).

To be sure, the Arbitration Agreement was optional, i.e., agreeing to arbitration was not required to gain admission to the Facility. But all this means is that it did not have to be agreed to for Ms. White to be admitted, i.e., the Arbitration Agreement did not have to be executed at all. It does not mean that the Arbitration Agreement did not become a part of the admissions materials once it was in fact agreed to. Indeed, the fact that the Arbitration Agreement was not required for admission underscores its *connectedness* to the Admission Agreement. The two go together hand in glove. Without the hand (the Admission Agreement), there is no reason for the glove (the Arbitration Agreement).

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