**RECEIVED**

**Apr 01 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals**

---

APPEAL FROM CALHOUN COUNTY  
In the Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2021-000700

---

Jeffery White, individually and as Personal  
Representative of the Estate of Lizzie White ..... Respondent

v.

St. Matthews Healthcare, LLC,  
d/b/a Calhoun Convalescent Center ..... Appellant

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

Jessica L. Fickling (Bar No. 100161)  
Matthew B. Robins (Bar No. 103685)  
Strom Law Firm, LLC  
6923 N. Trenholm Road, Suite 200  
Columbia, SC 29204  
(803) 252-4800

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

## ARGUMENT

The circuit court properly refused to compel arbitration because the federal and state policies favoring arbitration of disputes cannot overcome the absence of an agreement to arbitrate that is enforceable under South Carolina law.

“The basic purpose of the [Federal Arbitration Act] is to overcome state courts’ refusal to enforce arbitration agreements.” *Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 590–91, 553 S.E.2d 110, 115 (2001). “[F]ederal policy favoring arbitration, as expressed in the FAA, is now binding even in state courts and supersedes inconsistent state law and statutes which invalidate arbitration agreements.” *Id.* at 590, 553 S.E.2d at 115. As such, it is well established that “[t]he policies of the United States and this State favor arbitration of disputes.” *New Hope Missionary Baptist Church v. Paragon Builders*, 379 S.C. 620, 630, 667 S.E.2d 1, 6 (Ct. App. 2008).

While viewed favorably by the courts, arbitration “is predicated on an agreement to arbitrate because parties are waiving their fundamental right to access to the courts.” *Wilson*, 426 S.C. at 337, 827 S.E.2d at 173. Thus, “[t]he purpose of the FAA is ‘to make arbitration agreements as enforceable as other contracts, *but not more so.*’” *Id.* at 336, 827 S.E.2d at 173 (emphasis added) (quoting *Prima Paint Corp. v. Flood & Conklin Mfg. Co.*, 388 U.S. 395, 404 n. 12 (1967)). In other words, “arbitration is a matter of contract and a party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute which he has not agreed to submit.” *Aiken v. World Fin. Corp. of S.C.*, 373 S.C. 144, 149, 644 S.E.2d 705, 708 (2007); *see also Wilson*, 426 S.C. at 337, 827 S.E.2d at 173 (“Even the exceptionally strong policy favoring arbitration cannot justify requiring litigants to forego a judicial remedy when they have not agreed to do so.” (quoting *Carr v. Main Carr Dev.*,

*LLC*, 337 S.W.3d 489, 496 (Tex. App. 2011)). Accordingly, “[t]he presumption in favor of arbitration applies to the scope of an arbitration agreement; *it does not apply to the existence of such an agreement or to the identity of the parties who may be bound to such an agreement.*” *Wilson*, 426 S.C. at 337, 827 S.E.2d at 173 (emphasis added) (quoting *Carr*, 337 S.W.3d at 496). Rather, “[a] party seeking to compel arbitration under the FAA must establish that (1) there is a valid agreement [to arbitrate], and (2) the claims fall within the scope of the agreement.” *Id.* at 336, 827 S.E.2d at 173.

“Moreover, because arbitration, while favored, exists solely by agreement of the parties, *a presumption against arbitration arises where the party resisting arbitration is a nonsignatory to the written agreement to arbitrate.*” *Id.* at 337–38, 827 S.E.2d at 173 (emphasis added). Ultimately, because determining the “enforceability of an arbitration agreement is guided by general principles of contract law[,]” *Stott v. White Oak Manor, Inc.*, 426 S.C. 568, 573, 828 S.E.2d 82, 85 (Ct. App. 2019) (citation omitted), “[w]hether an arbitration agreement may be enforced against nonsignatories, and under what circumstances, is an issue controlled by state law.” *Wilson*, 426 S.C. at 338, 827 S.E.2d at 173–74. “South Carolina has recognized several theories that could bind nonsignatories to arbitration agreements under general principles of contract and agency law.” *Id.* at 338, 827 S.E.2d at 174. Calhoun raises only estoppel and agency in the instant appeal.

**I. The circuit court properly determined Respondent was not equitably estopped from denying arbitration because there was no merger of the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement, and the evidence presented by Calhoun was insufficient to support the application of estoppel.**

The plain language of both agreements reveals an intention that they be construed separately, and the record is devoid of any evidence demonstrating bad faith conduct or exploitation of contractual benefits necessary to support the application of equitable estoppel.

**a. The Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement each evidenced an expressed intention that the documents be construed separately.**

Respondent should not be estopped from denying arbitration because the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement were separate documents that did not merge.

Equitable estoppel,

known also as direct benefits estoppel<sup>4</sup> in the arbitration realm, estops a nonsigner from refusing to comply with an arbitration provision of a contract if

- (1) the nonsigner's claim arises from the contractual relationship,
- (2) the nonsigner has "exploited" other parts of the contract by reaping its benefits, and
- (3) the claim relies solely on the contract terms to impose liability.

*Weaver v. Brookdale Senior Living, Inc.*, 431 S.C. 223, 230, 847 S.E.2d 268, 272 (Ct. App. 2020).

"Notably, in those opinions addressing equitable estoppel in the arbitration context, the nonsignatory's contractual benefit is not typically an alleged benefit of arbitration[,] . . . rather, the contractual benefit typically arises from another provision of the *same contract that includes the arbitration provision.*" *Thompson v. Pruitt Corp.*, 416 S.C. 43, 59, 784 S.E.2d 679, 688 (Ct. App. 2016) (emphasis added).

Here, because the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement at issue are two separate documents, there must be a merger of the two agreements before estoppel can apply. *See Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.*, 407 S.C. 346, 356, 755 S.E.2d 450, 455 (2014) ("Since there was no merger here, appellants' equitable estoppel argument was properly denied by the circuit court."); *Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC*, 422 S.C. 544, 563, 813

---

<sup>4</sup> Calhoun argues the circuit court erred in engaging in a traditional six-factor equitable estoppel analysis, *see e.g., Strickland v. Strickland*, 375 S.C. 76, 650 S.E.2d 465 (2007), rather than the direct benefits test. However, because the record does not support the application of estoppel under either analysis, the circuit court's refusal to apply the doctrine should be affirmed. *See McCall v. Finley*, 294 S.C. 1, 4, 362 S.E.2d 26, 28 (Ct. App. 1987) ("Appellate courts recognize . . . an overriding rule of civil procedure which says: whatever doesn't make any difference, doesn't matter.").

S.E.2d 292, 302 (Ct. App. 2018) (“Because Mable, Husband, and the Estate received no benefit from the Arbitration Agreement, equitable estoppel would only apply if documents were merged.”).

“The general rule is that, *in the absence of anything indicating a contrary intention*, where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction, the courts will consider and construe the instruments together.” *Klutts Resort Realty, Inc. v. Down’Round Dev. Corp.*, 268 S.C. 80, 88, 232 S.E.2d 20, 24 (1977) (emphasis added). In *Coleman, Thompson, and Hodge*, our courts identified several factors which evidence an intent to treat separate admission and arbitration agreements, signed at the same time and during the same transaction, as individual documents.

In *Coleman*, the admission agreement contained an “Entirety of Agreement” clause providing:

This Agreement, including all Exhibits hereto, and the Arbitration Agreement between the Facility and the Resident, if the parties sign one, supersede all other agreements, either oral or in writing between the parties, and contain all of the promises and agreements between the parties. Each party to this Agreement acknowledges that no representations, inducements, or promises have been made by any party or anyone acting on behalf of any party, that are not contained in this Agreement or in the Arbitration Agreement. This Agreement may be amended only by a written agreement signed on behalf of the Facility and the Resident.

407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455. The Supreme Court noted that on its face, this clause recognized the “separatedness” of the two agreements rather than a merger. *Id.* Additionally, the Court pointed to the fact that the arbitration agreement could be disclaimed within thirty days while the admission agreement could not. *Id.* Finally, the Court explained “[e]ven if the ‘Entirety’ clause create[d] an ambiguity as to merger, the law is clear that any ambiguity in such a clause is construed against the drafter.” *Id.* at 355–56, 755 S.E.2d at 455.

Similarly, in *Thompson*, this Court found that separate admission and arbitration agreements did not merge because the arbitration agreement could be disclaimed within thirty days while the admission agreement could not, and the execution of the arbitration agreement was not a condition precedent for admission to the nursing facility. 416 S.C. at 53, 784 S.E.2d at 685.

In *Hodge*, this Court again found no merger between separate admission and arbitration agreements. 422 S.C. at 563, 813 S.E.2d at 302. In reaching its conclusion, this Court noted that the admission agreement was governed by South Carolina law, but the arbitration agreement was governed by federal law. *Id.* at 562, 813 S.E.2d at 302. Additionally, like the agreements in *Coleman*, the arbitration agreement recognized the separateness of the documents by referring to them separately as “this Agreement” and “the Patient/Resident’s Admission Agreement. *Id.* The Court further relied on the facts that each document was separately paginated, each had its own signature space, and the arbitration agreement was not required for admission to the facility. *Id.* at 562–63, 813 S.E.2d at 302.

Like the documents in *Coleman*, *Thompson*, and *Hodge*, the following factors evidenced an expressed intention that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement be construed separately. The documents bore separate titles, were separately paginated, and each had its own signature space. The Admission Agreement was governed by South Carolina law while the Arbitration Agreement was governed by federal law.<sup>5</sup> The Admission Agreement made no

---

<sup>5</sup> Calhoun asserts that there is no discrepancy in the governing law provisions in the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement because “both instruments provide that South Carolina law applies except where it is displaced by federal law.” Notably, however, Calhoun’s second argument asserts that our Supreme Court’s holding in *Arredondo* is improper and should not be applied to the case at bar because it violates the Federal Arbitration Act. (App’s Final Brief, section I(B)).

Moreover, the Arbitration Agreement explicitly provided that it was controlled by the FAA “notwithstanding any . . . contrary state law.” (R. 118). Furthermore, while the Arbitration

reference to the Arbitration Agreement and contained an “Entire Agreement” clause. Moreover, the separateness of the documents was acknowledged on the face of the Arbitration Agreement itself, as the last paragraph provided, “This agreement shall remain in effect for all care rendered at Facility and shall survive any termination or breach of this Agreement *or the Admission Agreement.*” (R. 118) (emphasis added). Ultimately, the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement plainly evidence an intent to remain separate on their face, and the circuit court properly determined the documents did not merge.

Calhoun argues the documents should be construed together because the “Entire Agreement” clause in the Admission Agreement refers to “other Admission materials.” This argument is unavailing. Such language, at most, creates an ambiguity as to merger. In *Coleman*, the entire agreement clause in a facility admission agreement made express reference to an “Arbitration Agreement between the Facility and the Resident, if the parties sign one.” 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455. In its analysis, the Supreme Court acknowledged the possibility that this language could create an ambiguity as to merger, and concluded “the law is clear that *any ambiguity in such a clause is construed against the drafter.*” *Id.* at 355–56, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (emphasis added). Consequently, the vague reference to “other Admission materials” creates an ambiguity at best, and such ambiguity must be construed against Calhoun.

Ultimately, because the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement did not merge, the circuit court properly refused to estop Respondent from denying arbitration. *See id.* at 356, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (“Since there was no merger here, appellants’ equitable estoppel argument was

---

Agreement provided that the *form of arbitration* was governed by the South Carolina Rules of Alternative Dispute Resolution, these procedural rules do not supplant the FAA as the governing law. Rather, when a conflict between state procedural rules and the FAA arises, procedural rules must yield to the substantive law of the FAA. *See Bean v. S.C. Cent. R.R. Co.*, 392 S.C. 532, 545, 709 S.E.2d 99, 105 (Ct. App. 2011) (“[A] local form of practice may not defeat a federal right.”)

properly denied by the circuit court.”); *Hodge*, 422 S.C. at 563, 813 S.E.2d at 302 (“Because Mable, Husband, and the Estate received no benefit from the Arbitration Agreement, equitable estoppel would only apply if documents were merged.”).

**b. Calhoun presented no evidence demonstrating that Respondent reaped the benefits of the Admission Agreement or that his claims arise solely from the contract, nor did Calhoun present any evidence suggesting that Respondent or Ms. White misled the facility.**

Assuming, arguendo, that that the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement merged, there is not sufficient evidence in the record to satisfy the elements of estoppel.

Direct benefits estoppel applies when (1) the nonsignatory’s claim arises from the contractual relationship, (2) the nonsignatory has exploited other parts of the contract by reaping its benefits, and (3) the claim relies only on the contract terms to impose liability. *Weaver*, 431 S.C at 230, 847 S.E.2d at 272. Crucially, because equitable estoppel is “[b]orn of equity, the heart of the theory ‘is that the party entitled to invoke the principle was misled to his injury.’” *Id.* at 233, 847 S.E.2d at 274 (quoting *Rodarte v. Univ. of S.C.*, 419 S.C. 592, 601, 799 S.E.2d 912, 916 (2017)). Accordingly, “[e]stoppel cannot exist if the knowledge of both parties is equal and nothing is done by one to mislead the other.” *Zabinski*, 346 S.C. at 589, 553 S.E.2d at 114 (quoting *Evins v. Richland Cty. Historic Pres. Comm’n*, 341 S.C. 15, 20, 532 S.E.2d 876, 878 (2000)). Because “[e]quitable estoppel is, ultimately, a theory designed to prevent injustice,[] it should be used sparingly.” *Wilson*, 426 S.C. at 345, 827 S.E.2d at 177.

First, Calhoun failed to present any evidence that Ms. White or Respondent exploited the benefits of the Admission Agreement. While Ms. White was admitted to Calhoun, within nine months, Calhoun caused the injuries that led to her death. This Court has previously found that a party received no benefit from an admission agreement under similar circumstances. *See Hodge*, 422 S.C. at 563, 813 S.E.2d at 302 (“The only agreement from which Respondents even arguably

received a benefit was the Admission Agreement because Mable was admitted to the Facility as a result of it. However, *because the Facility allegedly caused Mable's injuries that later led to her death, we find it difficult to find she benefited even from being admitted.*" (emphasis added)).

Similarly, Calhoun presented no evidence indicating that Respondent exploited the benefits of the Admission Agreement. Calhoun contends that Respondent exploited the benefits by failing to repudiate the Admission Agreement or otherwise remove Ms. White from the facility.<sup>6</sup> But any alleged failure to act on the part of Respondent does not constitute the active exploitation of the Admission Agreement necessary to satisfy the elements of estoppel. *See Weaver*, 431 S.C. at 232, 847 S.E.2d at 273 ("Weaver has not 'exploited' or otherwise sought to enforce or benefit from the residency agreement, any more than a pedestrian run over by a truck has benefited from the contract for the purchase of the truck."); *id.* at 233, 847 S.E.2d at 274 ("This portrayal of Weaver as a stranger to Appellants contradicts their depiction of her, in their equitable estoppel argument, as *actively exploiting the residency agreement by looting its benefits.*" (emphasis added)). Moreover, because "Respondent[ is] not suing for a breach of the Admission Agreement, [he is] not attempting to enforce that agreement." *Hodge*, 422 S.C. at 563, 813 S.E.2d at 302.

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